IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Kevin Sunseri,) Supreme Court Case No.: 81551
Appellant) Electronically Filed) Nov 15 2020 02:59 p.m
VS.	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
The State of Nevada,)
Respondent,) APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF)

NEVADA DEFENSE GROUP

Damian Sheets, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10755 Kelsey Bernstein, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 13825

714 S. Fourth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: (702) 988-2600

Facsimile: (702) 988-9500

dsheets@defendingnevada.com Attorney for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

Pursuant to NRAP 26.1, the undersigned counsel of record certifies that there are no persons or entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) that must be disclosed.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court retains jurisdiction as an appeal from a judgment in a criminal case pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). A timely notice of appeal was filed on July 26, 2020, approximately 25 days after the Judgment of Conviction was filed.

NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter may be assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals as an appeal from a judgment of conviction based upon a plea of guilty pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1).

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Statement of the Issues

- 1. Is Appellant entitled to have his case dismissed from the violation of his right to a speedy trial as set forth in *Doggett v. United States*?
- 2. Can a violation of the Defendant's right to a speedy trial as set forth in *Doggett v. United States* be a fair and just reason to withdraw a guilty plea under the totality of circumstances?
- 3. Is a violation of the Defendant's right to a speedy trial as set forth in *Doggett v. United States* waived upon entering a guilty plea?

II. Statement of the Case and Relevant Facts

On May 25, 2016, Appellant Kevin Sunseri began a stipulated sentence of two to five years in the Nevada Department of Corrections for charges unrelated to the instant appeal. Mr. Sunseri served his sentence in the Nevada Department of Corrections until he was released on parole on August 27, 2018 (Bates 036).

However, on that date, he was in fact not released on parole; instead, he was re-booked on an arrest warrant that had apparently issued and remained

outstanding in NCIC since July 28, 2016 – over two years prior – that initiated Las Vegas Justice Court Case 16F07251X (Bates 001).

Mr. Sunseri's arrest warrant had lingered for over two years, the entire time of which he was in custody in the Nevada Department of Corrections. He was never apprehended or informed of the warrant during the entire period that he remained in custody until *the very day* that he was scheduled to be released. The warrant was issued two months after Mr. Sunseri was sentenced and in the custody of the State (Bates 036).

Thus, instead of initiating the criminal process two years prior, Mr. Sunseri was instead presented with an entirely new criminal case when he was finally on the verge of being released from custody. The arrest warrant was formally executed on August 27, 2018 – the same day of his anticipated release (Bates 003).

On these new charges, Mr. Sunseri unconditionally waived his right to a preliminary hearing pursuant to negotiations entered in this case on September 21, 2018 (Bates 008).

At the District Court arraignment, the Court accepted Mr. Sunseri's plea to one count of Robbery and one count Ownership or Possession of a Firearm by Prohibited Person (Bates 008). However, at sentencing, his Counsel requested a competency evaluation for Mr. Sunseri due to his disturbed and suicidal mental state (Bates 019). Shortly after entering his plea, Mr. Sunseri was found incompetent and an Order of Commitment was filed (Bates 022).

Mr. Sunseri was returned from competency commitment approximately one month later (Bates 025). His Counsel was attempting at that time to apply Mr. Sunseri to Mental Health Court, and several status checks were set for that purpose (Bates 026; 032).

However, when that proved unsuccessful, Mr. Sunseri retained new counsel, who raised the potential violation of his right to a speedy trial in violation of *Doggett v. United States*; on June 3, 2019, a Motion to Withdraw Plea was subsequently filed, asking the District Court to permit Mr. Sunseri to withdraw his plea as unknowingly entered and thereafter dismiss the case due to the *Doggett* violation (Bates 036).

Summarily, the Motion argued that Mr. Sunseri entered into the negotiations without an understanding that a legal remedy existed which could result in outright dismissal of this case. Specifically, Mr. Sunseri argued his case was eligible for dismissal based on the State's violation of Mr. Sunseri's federal right to a speedy trial under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution as set forth in *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 515, 92 S.Ct. 2182

(1972) and *Doggett v. United States*, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (1992). In this case, more than two years had elapsed from the issuance of the arrest warrant to the satisfaction thereof, and Mr. Sunseri was easily reachable in the Nevada Department of Corrections during this entire period.

The State filed an Opposition on July 10, 2019 (Bates 077). After review of the pleadings, the District Court set an evidentiary hearing to determine what, if any, efforts were undertaken to inform or apprehend Mr. Sunseri on the outstanding arrest warrant while he remained in state custody (Bates 090). After some initial difficulties securing the appearance of a representative from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, who had rejected the Defense's subpoena, the evidentiary hearing was eventually held on November 20, 2019 (Bates 107; 126).

The first person to testify was the person most knowledgeable from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department regarding warrant information and procedures, Simone Davis (Bates 146). However, Ms. Davis testified that her assistant, Amy Colin, had pulled all of the files relevant to Mr. Sunseri for purposes of the evidentiary hearing, so the parties next called Ms. Colin (Bates 149). She testified that after searching under the event number associated with

Mr. Sunseri's case, no information was available regarding attempts to serve or apprehend him on the warrant:

BY MR. SHEETS:

Q: So, you were ordered to produce any and all documents related to the arrest and investigation of Kevin Sunseri in connection with the above referenced case and/or relating to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, event number 151211-0017, is that correct?

A: That's correct.

Q: Okay. And you draft the letters that are responsive from Simone Davis?

A: I do.

Q: Okay. Did you come to draft the letter on September 12, 2019 indicating that there were no reports found within the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department Records and Fingerprint Bureau pertaining to the attempted execution of the arrest warrant?

A: that is correct, yes (Bates 153).

...

Q: You did not find anything in your database that showed an attempted execution by Metro to pick up on the arrest warrant, is that correct?

A: That is correct (Bates 160).

After the evidentiary hearing but before the District Court had rendered its decision, the Nevada Supreme Court released a published decision in *State of Nevada v. Rigoberto Inzunza*, Case No. 75662. In that case, the State appealed the dismissal of multiple felony counts against Mr. Inzunza, including sex assault on a minor under fourteen, after a request to dismiss under *Doggett v.*

United States had been granted by the Eighth Judicial District Court. This Court not only affirmed the dismissal, but addressed and struck down many of the State's arguments that were raised against Mr. Sunseri as well.

In response to the *Inzunza* ruling, Defense filed a Supplement to its Motion to Withdraw Plea (Bates 190). A Minute Order was issued a few days later requesting additional supplements as to how *Inzunza* and *Doggett* would relate to a request to withdraw a guilty plea (Bates 213). Defense filed an Amended Supplement on January 19, 2020 (Bates 217). The State filed a Response to the Supplemental briefs, and Defense filed a Reply (Bates 225; 235).

On February 27, 2020, the District Court issued a Minute Order denying the Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea (Bates 239). The District Court found that "Inzunza does not deal with a motion to withdraw after entry of plea but an appeal of an order granting a motion to dismiss," and therefore did not consider the *Inzunza* or *Doggett* analysis. Additionally, the District Court found that "Defendant does not allege that information was withheld from him by his attorney, that he was coerced into entering his plea, or that he entered the plea in a hasty fashion. Considering the totality of circumstances here, Defendant's

Motion is denied" (Bates 239). A Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed April 1, 2020 (Bates 256).

Shortly after the Minute Order was issued and prior to sentencing, Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to *Doggett v. United States* (Bates 241); this Motion did not seek to withdraw the plea, but rather sought outright dismissal of the case. The State filed an Opposition on April 3, 2020, arguing that Mr. Sunseri's guilty plea had waived his claim to a speedy trial violation (Bates 266).

A Minute Order denying the Motion to Dismiss was issued on May 26, 2020, and a formal Order was filed June 1, 2020 (Bates 272; 274). The District Court found:

Defendant relies on all three cases [Doggett, Barker and Inzunza] to support the contention that his speedy trial rights were violated and the case should thus be dismissed. However, all three of those cases dealt with pre-trial motions to dismiss. Unlike the case at bar, none of the cases that Defendant relies on involved a Defendant who entered a valid guilty plea agreement... This Court finds that Defendant waived the right to a trial by jury when he entered into the guilty plea agreement. Accordingly, Dogget, Inzunza, and Barker are inapplicable. Defendant has failed to demonstrate any reason to undo the provisions of the valid guilty plea agreement, namely his waiver of right to a jury trial (Bates 272).

Sentencing went forward on June 30, 2020 (Bates 282). At sentencing, Defense Counsel requested that Mr. Sunseri receive credit for the two years that he spent in custody while the arrest warrant was outstanding; Defense argued that had the State met its obligation to bring Mr. Sunseri to face the charges, he would have more than two years of additional credit on the instant case. The District Court denied the request, and sentenced Mr. Sunseri to credit dating back only from the satisfaction of the warrant.

Mr. Sunseri was ultimately sentenced to an aggregate 66-180 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections, with 674 days credit for time served (Bates 301). A Notice of Appeal was filed thereafter (Bates 303).

III. Summary of the Argument

Appellant was entitled to have his case dismissed due to the speedy trial violation as set forth in *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 515, 92 S.Ct. 2182 (1972), *Doggett v. United States*, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (1992), and *Inzunza v. State*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 69 (Dec. 26, 2019).

All four factors to be considered are in favor of dismissal; the delay in this case is in excess of two years and can only be attributable to State negligence because Mr. Sunseri was in State custody the entire period that the warrant

remained outstanding. Mr. Sunseri failed to asserted his right to a speedy trial during the relevant time period (from issuance to execution of the arrest warrant) only because he was not aware of the existing warrant. As to the last factor, despite the State having ample opportunities to rebut the presumption of prejudice at an evidentiary hearing, the testimony affirmed that no actions were taken by the State to inform or apprehend Mr. Sunseri on the warrant for the entire two years that he was in State custody. Therefore, the State failed to overcome the presumption of prejudice and Mr. Sunseri was entitled to dismissal.

The substantial likelihood of dismissal due to the *Doggett* violation presented a fair and just reason to withdraw his plea. Mr. Sunseri's plea could not have been knowingly and intelligently entered when he was never apprised of the likelihood that, had he raised this issue, his entire case could be subject to dismissal.

Finally, entering into a guilty plea agreement does not constitute a categorical waiver of the speedy trial violation for two reasons: first, a defendant cannot knowingly and voluntarily waive a right or violation he does not know exists, and second, the prospective waiver to a trial by jury does not cure an existing violation that manifests from the time an arrest warrant is

issued to when it is executed. Otherwise, the guilty plea agreement would create a categorical exclusion that prevents a *Doggett* violation from ever being a basis to withdraw a plea, which runs afoul of this Court's previous rulings that a plea can be withdrawn for *any* fair and just reason under the totality of circumstances.

ARGUMENT

The procedural posturing of this case requires Appellant to present the issues in reverse chronological order; the Motion to Withdraw was, in a sense, an analysis within an analysis – the ultimate question of whether Appellant is entitled to withdraw his plea on the premise of a *Doggett* violation by necessity first requires a determination of whether a *Doggett* violation does in fact exist.

Therefore, Appellant will address first the Motion to Dismiss based on *Doggett v. United States* to determine whether a violation of Mr. Sunseri's speedy trial rights occurred; second, Appellant will then address whether such a violation is grounds to withdraw a guilty plea; third, if a violation exists which is grounds to withdraw a plea, whether a Defendant categorically waives that violation upon entering a guilty plea and waiving his right to a trial by jury.

I. Appellant is Entitled to Have His Case Dismissed as a Violation of His Right to a Speedy Trial

From the time of the issuance of the warrant to the formal execution thereof, the warrant lingered while Mr. Sunseri was in custody for **760 days**, or 2 years and 30 days. Due to the excessive delay, the State has violated Mr. Sunseri's federal right to a speedy trial under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The Sixth Amendment provides, in pertinent part, "in all criminal prosecutions, the accused that shall the right to a speedy and public trial..." The right to a speedy trial is a "fundamental right" enforced against the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 515, 92 S.Ct. 2182 (1972).

The federal speedy trial right, as distinguished from Nevada's statutory 60 day rule, is primarily addressed in *Barker*. The Supreme Court articulated four factors to consider in each case when a speedy trial violation is asserted:

- 1. Length of delay;
- 2. Reason for the delay;
- 3. Defendant's assertion of his rights; and
- 4. Prejudice to the defendant.

While the factors were initially set forth in *Barker*, many of them were revisited in greater depth in *Doggett v. United States*, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (1992). The Court ultimately concluded that once the right to a speedy trial has been

violated, dismissal "is the only possible remedy." *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 552. The Nevada Supreme Court also published a significant decision on this issue, *Inzunza v. State*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 69 (Dec. 26, 2019).

A. The Delay of More than 1 Year Results in "Presumptive Prejudice"

The length of delay is what ultimately triggers a speedy trial analysis. "Until there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors that go into the balance." *Barker*, 92 S.Ct. at 2192. This was further discussed in *Doggett*, which held that a one year delay was sufficient as a threshold to "mark the point at which courts deem delay unreasonable enough to trigger the *Barker* inquiry." The Nevada Supreme Court has also applied this standard. "A post-accusation delay meets this standard as it approaches one year." *State v. Inzunza*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 69, 6.

Doggett goes into considerable detail regarding how presumptive prejudice plays into the equation. In *Doggett*, the defendant was arrested 8 years after his indictment. The Court found that the delay was presumptively prejudicial (noting the one-year threshold), that the Government was negligent in seeking him out, and that Doggett asserted his rights as soon as he became aware of the charges. Since the delay was enough to create the "presumption of

prejudice," the fourth factor was also met without a need to show actual prejudice, and the Court reversed his conviction.

In the instant case, more than double the required amount of time has elapsed from the issuance of the arrest warrant to when it was satisfied, going well beyond the one year threshold needed to trigger the initial inquiry and establish "presumptive prejudice." On its face, per both U.S. and Nevada Supreme Court rulings, the extensive length of time after the issuance of the warrant establishes presumptive prejudice against him.

B. The Delay was Not Caused by the Appellant

Delays which are attributable to the State, or agencies under the power of the State, favor dismissal. The Supreme Court in *Barker* and *Doggett* set forth a spectrum to gauge how the root cause of the delay factors into the overall analysis. On one end of the spectrum is State "diligent prosecution," and on the other end is State "bad-faith delays." The Court in *Doggett* recognized that most delays will fall somewhere in the middle as attributable to State "negligence."

However, even if negligence falls in the middle of the spectrum, it nonetheless comes down in favor of the defendant for purposes of a speedy trial violation. "A more neutral reason such as negligence or overcrowded courts

should be weighed less heavily [than bad faith] but nevertheless should be considered since the ultimate responsibility for such circumstances must rest with the government rather than with the defendant." *Barker*, 92 S.Ct. at 2191.

This was subsequently reaffirmed in *Doggett*. "While not compelling relief in every case where bad-faith delay would make relief virtually automatic, neither is negligence automatically tolerable simply because the accused cannot demonstrate exactly how it prejudiced him." *Doggett*, 112 S.Ct. at 2693. The Court also noted "[a]lthough negligence is obviously to be weighed more lightly than a deliberate intent to harm the accused's defense, *it still falls on the wrong side of the divide between acceptable and unacceptable reasons for delaying a criminal prosecution once it has begun." <i>Id.* (emphasis added).

The *Inzunza* case is also instructive here. In *Inzunza*, the named victim disclosed to her therapist that Inzunza had sexually assaulted her. The victim and her mother went to the police department to file a report, informing officers that Inzunza had moved out of state to New Jersey and providing leads about Inzunza's whereabouts through Facebook. The detective unsuccessfully attempted to locate Inzunza locally and submitted the case to the District Attorney's office to file charges. After doing so, the detective entered the

warrant into the NCIC database, but thereafter failed to take any steps to inform or apprehend him on the warrant.

The District Court classified this level of inaction as "gross negligence," and that finding was upheld by this Court.

We conclude the district court did not abuse its discretion under factor two when it found the 26-month delay was caused entirely by the State's 'gross negligence.' Though Detective Hoyt had knowledge of Inzunza's whereabouts, he did not attempt to contact Inzunza or have him arrested during the entire 26-month period. Moreover, there was no evidence showing that Inzunza was aware of the charges before the date of his arrest. Therefore, the district court correctly found that the State was solely responsible for the delay. *Id.* at 7-8.

In this case, Mr. Sunseri was not hiding from law enforcement or in any way concealing his whereabouts because **he was in custody** in the Nevada Department of Corrections. These circumstances provide a solid point of comparison to those in *Doggett*: in that case, the government took actual affirmative efforts to locate the defendant after he had left the country, but the government's failure to diligently pursue those efforts was negligent. *Id.* Indeed, the *Doggett* Court noted that the government could have found the defendant within minutes had its agents bothered to try, explaining that "[w]hile the government's lethargy may have reflected no more than Doggett's relative

unimportance in the world of drug trafficking, it was still findable negligence, and that finding stands." *Id.*

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