#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Dec 15 2020 08:55 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

KEVIN SUNSERI,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 81551

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010755 KELSEY BERNSTEIN, ESQ. Nevada Bar #13825 714 S. Fourth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 988-2600

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

As an initial matter, Appellant's claims are waived because Appellant cannot raise constitutional claims that occurred prior to his guilty plea. Even if Appellant's claims are not waived, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Appellant's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to <u>Doggett v. United States</u> because Appellant's rights were not violated. Further, even if Appellant's claims are not waived, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Appellant's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State has filed a contemporaneous Motion to Transmit the Presentence Investigation Report with the Instant Response.

Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea because Appellant's plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered into.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE WAIVED BECAUSE APPELLANT CANNOT RAISE CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS THAT OCCURRED PRIOR TO HIS GUILTY PLEA.

Appellant's overall claim is that he should be permitted to withdraw his plea and have this Court dismiss his case because his speedy trial rights were violated. See generally, Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB"). However, Appellant's claim is meritless because he waived any constitutional claims by nature of his guilty plea.

A defendant cannot enter a guilty plea then later raise independent claims alleging a deprivation of his rights before entry of the plea. State v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 121 Nev. 225, 112 P.3d 1070, n.24 (2005) (quoting Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 267 (1973)). Generally, the entry of a guilty plea waives any right to appeal from events occurring prior to the entry of the plea. See Webb v. State, 91 Nev. 469, 538 P.2d 164 (1975). "[A] guilty plea represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process. . . . [A defendant] may not thereafter raise independent claims relating to the deprivation of constitutional rights that occurred prior to the entry of the guilty plea." Id. (quoting Tollett, 411 U.S. at 267).

Appellant entered his plea on September 21, 2018. The district court denied his Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea and Motion to Dismiss on February 27, 2020,

and May 26, 2020, respectively. Appellant waived his right to a speedy trial by pleading guilty. As this Court clearly laid out in Webb, Nevada law does not permit a defendant, after willingly pleading guilty, to "thereafter raise independent claims relating to the deprivation of constitutional rights that occurred prior to the entry of the guilty plea." 91 Nev. 469, 538 P.2d 164 (quoting Tollett, 411 U.S. at 267). That is precisely what was done in the instant matter. Consequently, this argument should be denied as it has been waived.

#### II. EVEN IF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE NOT WAIVED, THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS.

Appellant claims that the district court erred when it denied Appellant's Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 650, 112 S. Ct. 2686 (1992). AOB at 16-28. This Court reviews a district court's decision to grant or deny a motion to dismiss an indictment for abuse of discretion. Hill v. State, 188 P.3d 51 (2008); McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 414, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999).

NRS 178.556(1) grants the district court discretion to dismiss a case if it is not brought to trial within 60 days due to unreasonable delay. Dismissal is only mandatory where there is not good cause for delay. Anderson v. State, 86 Nev. 829, 834, 477 P.2d 595, 598 (1970). "Simply to trigger a speedy trial analysis, an accused must allege that the interval between accusation and trial has crossed the threshold dividing ordinary from presumptively prejudicial delay." Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 651-52, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 2690-91 (1992). Delays are not presumptively prejudicial until one year or more has passed. <u>Id.</u> at 651-52 fn. 1, 112 S. Ct. at 2690-91 fn. 1; <u>see also Byford v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 215, 230, 994 P.2d 700, 711 (2000). The <u>Doggett Court</u> justified the imposition of this threshold requirement noting that "by definition he cannot complain that the government has denied him a 'speedy trial' if it has, in fact, prosecuted the case with customary promptness." <u>Doggett</u>, 505 U.S. at 651-52, 112 S. Ct. at 2690-91.

If this hurdle is overcome, a court determines if a constitutional speedy trial violation has occurred by applying the four-part test laid out in <u>Barker v. Wingo</u>, which examines the "[1]ength of delay, the reason for the delay, the defendant's assertion of his right, and prejudice to the defendant." <u>Prince v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 634, 640, 55 P.3d 947, 951 (2002) (quoting <u>Barker</u>, 406 U.S. 514, 530, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 2192 (1972)). The <u>Barker</u> factors must be considered collectively as no single element is necessary or sufficient. <u>Moore v. Arizona</u>, 414 U.S. 25, 26, 94 S. Ct. 188, 189 (1973) (quoting <u>Barker</u>, 407 U.S. at 533, 92 S. Ct. at 2193). However, to warrant relief the prejudice shown must be attributable to the delay. <u>Anderson</u>, 86 Nev. at 833, 477 P.2d at 598.

Appellant cites to <u>Doggett</u> in support of his contention that the district court should have dismissed his case. AOB at 16. In <u>Doggett</u>, the defendant was indicted in 1980 in federal court on drug charges but had left for Colombia prior to his arrest. 505 U.S. at 648-49, 112 S. Ct. at 2689. Over a year later, the DEA agent in charge

learned that Doggett was in custody on drug charges in Panama and simply asked that he be returned to the United States. <u>Id.</u> at 649, 112 S. Ct. at 2689. The American Embassy in Panama then informed the State Department that Doggett had been released and was permitted to go back to Colombia. <u>Id.</u> However, the DEA agent in charge was unaware of his release until 1985, but made no efforts to locate Doggett at that time. <u>Id.</u> at 650, 112 S. Ct. at 2689. In 1982, Doggett returned to the United States and was not located until 1988 after a credit check found where he lived and worked. <u>Id.</u> at 649-50, 112 S. Ct. at 2689. Doggett was arrested approximately eight (8) and a half years after the indictment. Id. at 650, 112 S. Ct. at 2690.

Doggett moved to dismiss the indictment based on the Government's failure to prosecute. <u>Id.</u> The federal district court denied Doggett's motion and entered a conditional guilty plea *expressly reserving his right to appeal on the speedy trial violation*. <u>Id.</u> at 650-51, 112 S. Ct. at 2690. The United States Supreme Court found that, because the defendant specifically reserved his right to appeal on the speedy trial violation, the Government's negligence which caused a delay six (6) times longer than that generally sufficient to trigger review warranted relief because the Government failed to demonstrate that his ability to defend himself was unimpaired. Id. at 657-68, 112 S. Ct. at 2694.

Appellant also cites to <u>State v. Inzunza</u>, 135 Nev. 513, 454 P.3d 727 (2019), in support on his claims. AOB at 17. In <u>Inzunza</u>, the defendant was charged in 2014

with sexually assaulting a nine-year-old six (6) years prior. 135 Nev. at 514, 454 P.3d at 729-30. During an interview, and prior to charges being filed, the minor's mother informed North Las Vegas Police Department ("NLVPD") detectives that Inzunza had moved to New Jersey and provided printouts from his Facebook page depicting his car, New Jersey license plate, and his employer's work truck with the business's name and number. Id. The detective issued an arrest warrant but made no other efforts to follow up on the mother's information. Id. at 514-15, 454 P.3d at 730. Approximately two (2) years later, Inzunza was arrested in New Jersey and extradited to Nevada. Id. Inzunza moved to dismiss the case and the district court granted the motion, stating that the State had been grossly negligent in pursuing prosecution. Id. at 515, 454 P.3d at 730. This Court upheld the district court's decision, finding that the State had failed to provide any rebuttal evidence that the defendant was prejudiced by the delay. Id. at 522, 454 P.3d at 735.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Inzunza</u> is misguided. In fact, the district court found that <u>Inzunza</u> was inapplicable in Appellant's case and those factual findings shall be given deference by this Court. 3 AA 275; <u>see also Riley v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994). Here, Appellant acknowledged his guilt and waived his Sixth Amendment speedy trial rights. This case bears no resemblance to <u>Inzunza</u> because Appellant's Sixth Amendment speedy trial right is not at issue since he pled guilty and waived any right to a trial. Further, unlike in <u>Doggett</u>, Appellant did not

conditionally accept his plea or expressly reserve the right to appeal the alleged speedy trial violation. Thus, Appellant's claim fails.

Further, applying Barker's four-part test, the reasons for the delay weigh against Appellant. Appellant never asserted his right to a speedy trial, in fact, Appellant waived that right when he entered his guilty plea at his arraignment on September 21, 2018. 1 AA 011. Appellant also acknowledged at the evidentiary hearing that he had waived his speedy trial right under the agreement. 2 AA 176. Therefore, Appellant cannot claim that his speedy trial rights were violated because he never invoked that right. Further, any delay was reasonable because the delays were the result of Appellant's incarceration on other charges. Appellant presented no evidence to this Court that police were aware of Appellant's location at any time after the arrest warrant issued. In fact, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") Law Enforcement Support Technician Amy Colin testified that notes regarding attempts to locate a defendant would only be in the system if the detective put the notes in the P1 system, which does not always occur. Id. at 155-56. So, Appellant provided no definitive proof to the district court that detectives knew where Appellant was and made no effort to execute the arrest warrant. Thus, unlike Doggett and Inzunza, Appellant has demonstrated no negligence on the part of the State. Therefore, because the delay was reasonable, Appellant's speedy trial rights were not violated and his argument is without merit. Moreover, Appellant does not even attempt to demonstrate how he was prejudiced. The only evidence in support of Appellant's contention that he was unaware of the arrest warrant are his own self-serving statements. <u>Id.</u> at 161-62. Therefore, Appellant's claims are nothing more than bare and naked assertions only appropriate for summary denial. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Appellant's Motion to Dismiss and Appellant's claim fails.

III. EVEN IF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE NOT WAIVED, THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA. Appellant claims that the district court erred when it denied his Motion to

Withdraw Guilty Plea because the violation of his speedy trial rights was a "fair and just" reason to withdraw his plea. AOB at 28-33. The district court may grant a motion to withdraw made prior to sentencing or adjudication of guilty for any substantial reason that is fair and just. State v. District Court, 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969). "However, the district court must also look to the totality of the circumstances and the entire record." Woods v. State, 114 Nev. 468, 469, 958 P.2d 91, 91 (1998); See State v. Second Judicial Dist. Court (Bernardelli), 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969). "On appeal from a district court's denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, this Court 'will presume that the lower court correctly assessed the validity of the plea, and [] will not reverse the lower court's determination absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion." Riker v. State, 111

Nev. 1316, 1322, 905 P.2d 706, 710 (1995) (quoting Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986)). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason."

Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). Deference must be given to factual findings made by the district court in the course of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

A plea of guilty is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered into on the advice of counsel. Jezierski v. State, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). The defendant has the burden of proving that the plea was not entered into voluntarily Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986); Wynn v. State, 96 Nev. 673, 615 P.2d 946 (1980); Housewright v. Powell, 101 Nev. 147, 710 P.2d 73 (1985). In determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly and voluntarily entered, the court will review the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367. The proper standard set forth in Bryant requires the trial court to personally address a defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of the charges to which he is pleading. Id. at 271; State v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). The guidelines for voluntariness of pleas "do not require the articulation of talismanic phrases." Heffley v. Warden, 89 Nev. 573, 575, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404 (1973). It requires only "that the record affirmatively disclose that a defendant who pleaded guilty entered his plea understandingly and voluntarily." Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 747-48, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970); United States v. Sherman, 474 F.2d 303 (9th Cir. 1973).

Specifically, the record must affirmatively show the following: 1) the defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; 2) the plea was voluntary, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; 3) the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of punishment; and 4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e., the elements of the crime. Higby v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 774, 781, 476 P.2d 950, 963 (1970). Consequently, in applying the "totality of circumstances" test, the most significant factors for review include the plea canvass and the written guilty plea agreement. See Hudson v. Warden, 117 Nev. 387, 399, 22 P.3d 1154, 1162 (2001).

This Court recently decided <u>Stevenson v. State</u>, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 61, (Aug. 13, 2015), holding that the statement in <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 718, 30 P.3d 1123 (2001), which focuses the "fair and just" analysis solely upon whether the plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent is more narrow than contemplated by NRS 176.165. This Court therefore disavowed <u>Crawford</u>'s exclusive focus on the validity of the plea and affirmed that the district court must consider the totality of the

circumstances to determine whether permitting withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing would be fair and just. However, the Court also held that the defendant had failed to present a fair and just reason favoring withdrawal of his plea and therefore affirmed his judgment of conviction. <u>Stevenson</u>, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. (Aug. 13, 2015).

In <u>Stevenson</u>, this Court found that none of the reasons presented warranted the withdrawal of Stevenson's guilty plea, including allegations that the members of his defense team lied about the existence of the video in order to induce him to plead guilty. The Court similarly found unconvincing Stevenson's contention that he was coerced into pleading guilty based on the compounded pressures of the district court's evidentiary ruling, standby counsel's pressure to negotiate a plea, and time constraints. As the Court noted, undue coercion occurs when a defendant is induced by promises or threats which deprive the plea of the nature of a voluntary act. <u>Id.</u> at 9 (quoting <u>Doe v. Woodford</u>, 508 F.3d 563, 570 (9th Cir. 2007).

This Court also rejected Stevenson's implied contention that withdrawal was warranted because he made an impulsive decision to plead guilty without knowing definitively whether the video could be viewed. Stevenson did not move to withdraw his plea for several months. The Court made clear that one of the goals of the fair and just analysis is to allow a hastily entered plea made with unsure heart and confused mind to be undone, not to allow a defendant to make a tactical decision to

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